

RULES _{oF} Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation Inc.

(adopted at AGM 22 November 2022)

REGISTERED AS AN INCORPORATED ASSOCIATION UNDER THE ASSOCIATIONS INCORPORATION REFORM ACT 2012 (VIC)

PREAMBLE

VACCHO is at heart, and by its Rules, an Aboriginal Community Controlled Organisation. An organisation that at its core, is committed to improve the health and wellbeing of Aboriginal Victoria.

Our Members' cultural identities are an important source of strength and this informs our ways of working and our integrity.

Until 1967 Aboriginal people were seen as Flora and Fauna and with the 1967' referendum and citizenship of Aboriginal people allowed us to exert our rights in a western framework.

Colonial violence continues to impact our people in the legacy of government policies that had the intent of genocide, stolen generations, black deaths in custody, trauma, structural racism, discrimination, and sovereignty was never ceded.

Our Aboriginality is intrinsic to our identity essential to our communities' principles and our world view Aboriginal culture is ancient and contemporary, dynamic, strong, vulnerable, and valuable.

Our collective Voice and Culture's is a source of strength, central to our ways of working and celebrating our success.

Strength in culture empowers our communities, improves our wellbeing and inclusion into the fabric of society.

Elders are valued and respected custodians and knowledge keepers of language, land, water skies, lore's, song lines, storylines, and beliefs that makeup the diversely woven fabric of Aboriginal Australia today.

The ability to observe and adapt to the environment both physically and socially ensured our survival.

We have been able to live in a way that nurtured a sustainable, self-sufficient, and selfdetermining peoples.

The ancient footprints of Aboriginal society are still guiding the way from the past, to the present and for the future.

We as an ancient and contemporary Peoples have never ceded our sovereignty.



Cover image: *On Solid Ground* - Madison Connors Yorta Yorta, Dja Dja Wurrung, Gamilaroi

About the Artist

Madison Connors is a proud Yorta Yorta (Wolithica), Dja Dja Wurrung and Gamilaroi woman. She was born and grew up in Kanny-goopna (Shepparton in Yorta Yorta language). Madison is an artist, a human rights advocate, and a mother. Her business, Yarli Creative, is a coming together of her yarka (children), her yakapna (family) and her mulana (spirit).

"My identity is what drives me. It's something that is within me and comes from the heart. My connection to my environmental surroundings is my blood line and vein to this country and the community which runs deep within. I come from a strong line of women and am following in their footsteps; I aim to embody their full form on this earth and strive to make my mob proud of the work that I create and achieve."

Story of the Artwork

This piece is a visual depiction of Victoria, bordered on either side by the land and the sea. It speaks to the title On Solid Ground, and the land and waterways that are home to Victorian Aboriginal peoples. VACCHO's Members, Associate Members, and the Communities they represent are illustrated across the State – centred in the artwork as they are at the core of VACCHO's vision and purpose. The central shape begins small in the bottom right corner, and expands outwards – representing VACCHO's growth and development over the past 25 years since it was established in 1996. From little things, big things grow. Emu and kangaroo tracks map the journey and pathway forward as VACCHO embarks on this next phase. The circles spread throughout the centre are a direct link to where VACCHO Members and Associate Members are placed in Victoria. Each circle has the symbol for people (upside down 'u' shape) inside of them representing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community members. The colours bring together the old and the new – acknowledging the history and traditions of some of the world's longest continuing cultures, together with the vibrant, contemporary Aboriginal cultures in Victoria today.



Table of Contents	
1. INTRODUCTION	5
2 PURPOSE	9
3. MEMBERSHIP	11
4. GENERAL MEETINGS	18
5 DIRECTORS	22
6. MINUTES	28
7. ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT	28
8. ALTERATION OF THE RULES	29
9. SEAL	29
10. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER	
11. SECRETARY	31
12. NOTICES	31
13. WINDING UP	32
14. RECORDS	33
15. INDEMNITY	33
SCHEDULE 1	35
SCHEDULE 2	
SCHEDULE 3	42

¥

C S



Sec CR

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Name

The name of the incorporated association is the Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation Inc. (in these Rules called "**the Association**").

1.2 Definitions

(1) In these Rules, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Aboriginal" means a person who is:

- a) is of Aboriginal descent;
- b) identifies himself or herself as an Aboriginal; and
- c) is accepted as an Aboriginal in the community which he or she lives.

"Aboriginal community or community" means, depending on the context, an individual local Aboriginal community or the broader Aboriginal community within Australia.

"Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service" means:

- d) an incorporated Aboriginal organisation;
- e) initiated by a local Aboriginal community;
- f) based in a local Aboriginal community;
- g) governed by an Aboriginal body which is elected by the local Aboriginal community; and
- h) delivering a holistic and culturally appropriate health service to the community which controls it.

"Aboriginal Community Controlled Health and Wellbeing Related Services"

means those services covered by the Aboriginal holistic definition of health including, but not restricted to, such services as health promotions and disease prevention services, substance misuse, men's and women's health, specialised services to children and the aged, services for people with disabilities, mental health services, dental care, clinical and hospital services and those services addressing, as well as seeking the amelioration of, poverty within Aboriginal communities.

"Aboriginal culture" includes practices and ceremonies founded on a belief in the Dreamtime and that the land and sea provide a link between all aspects of Aboriginal people's existence spirit, culture, language, family, lore, and identity.

"Aboriginal health" has the meaning given in Schedule 1.

"Aboriginal Health and Wellbeing Related Services" has the meaning given in Schedule 1.

"ACNC Act" means the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012.

"Act" means the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 (VIC) (No 20 of 2012).



"Annual General Meeting" means an Annual General Meeting convened in accordance with Rule 4.1.

"Associate Member" means an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health and Wellbeing Related Service delivering services in Victoria that has been accepted by the Association and has been entered on to the register of Members as an Associate Member in accordance with these Rules.

"Association" means the Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation Inc. (VACCHO).

"Board" means the governing body of the Association.

"Board Member" means a member of the Board elected or appointed under Rule 5.2.

"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Melbourne, Victoria.

"Chairperson" refers to the person presiding at General Meetings of the Association and at meetings of the Board and undertaking any other duties of the chairperson as determined by the Board or as described in these Rules.

"Chief Executive Officer" means the person who is appointed in accordance with Rule 10 as the Chief Executive Officer.

"Community control" provides rights for Aboriginal people to self-determination, input and ownership.

"Delegate" means a person or persons appointed by a Member, to represent the Member at General Meetings of the Association.

"Deputy Chairperson" means the person who is appointed in accordance with Rule 5.3 as the Deputy Chairperson.

"Directors" means the Directors acting collectively as the Board.

"Disqualified person" means a person who:

- i) Is the subject of a prohibition order under section 90A of the *Children and Young Persons (Care and Protection) Act 1998,* or
- j) is ineligible under the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012, the ACNC Act or any other legislation to act as a Director or to manage a company.

"Ineligible person" means a person whom the Directors resolve to be ineligible to act as a Director, because that person is a public servant or employee of a government department who has a conflict of interest with regard to Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services.

"ITAA 1997" means Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

"Financial Member" means an organisation that pays fees or subscriptions and supports the aims and objectives of the Association that has been accepted by the Association and entered on to the register of Members as a Financial Member in accordance with these Rules.

"Financial Year" means the year ending on 30 June.

"General Meeting" means an Annual General Meeting or a Special General Meeting.



"Member" means:

- (a) a Ordinary Member;
- (b) an Associate Member; or
- (c) a Financial Member.

"Members Forum" means a meeting of all Members and convened in accordance with Rule 4.3.

"NACCHO" means the National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation.

"NACCHO Principles" means such principles applicable to Aboriginal Health and Wellbeing Services as are published by National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation ACN 078 949 710 from time to time.

"Not-for-profit" means, in relation to an organisation, the fact that its rules, or other governing documents provide that no part of the organisation's capital or income may be paid, transferred or distributed, directly or indirectly to any Member of the organisation other than as reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on behalf of the organisation or as compensation for services rendered on behalf of the organisation or for goods supplied in the ordinary and usual course of business as an arm's-length transaction, and includes a charity registered under the *ACNC Act*.

"Objects" means the objects set out in Rule 2.

"Ordinary Member" means an incorporated Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service delivering services in Victoria that has been accepted by the Association and entered on to the register of Members as an Ordinary Member in accordance with these Rules.

"Primary health care" has the meaning given in schedule 1, the core functions of which are described in Schedule 2.

"Region" means a geographical region within Victoria as determined by the Members in an Annual General Meeting.

"Register" means the register of Members kept in accordance with Rule 3.5.

"Registrar" means the Registrar of Incorporated Associations at Consumer Affairs

Victoria.

"Regulations" means regulations under the Act.

"**Rules**" mean, for the internal purposes of this Association, the rules outlined in this document entitled Rules of the Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation Inc. as amended from time to time, and reference to particular rules has a corresponding meaning. It also includes any appendices and registered schedules to this document.

"**Secretary**" means the person who holds office under these Rules as Secretary of the Association, appointed in accordance with Rule 11.

"Special Business" means:



- (1) in relation to an Annual General Meeting, any business that is not ordinary business referred to in Rule [4.1] (3); and
- (2) in relation to a Special General Meeting, any business to be conducted at that General Meeting.

"**Special General Meeting**" means a Special General Meeting convened in accordance with Rule 4.2

"State" means the state of Victoria.

"VACCHO" means Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation Inc.

1.3 Interpretation

Where a word or phrase is given a defined meaning, another part of speech or other grammatical form in respect of that word or phrase have corresponding meanings.

1.3.1 Unless the context otherwise requires a word that denotes:

- a. the singular denotes the plural and vice versa;
- b. any gender denotes all genders; and
- c. a person includes an individual, a corporate body and a government.

1.3.2 Unless the context otherwise requires a reference to:

- a. any legislation includes any regulation or instrument made under it and where amended, re-enacted or replaced means that amended, re-enacted or replaced legislation;
- b. any other instrument where amended or replaced means that instrument as amended or replaced; and
- c. a thing or amount is a reference to the whole and each part of it.

1.3.3 In these Rules:

- a. rule headings are for convenience only and do not affect interpretation; and
- b. includes is not a word of limitation

1.4 References to and calculations of time

1.4.1 Where a period of time is specified and is to be calculated before or after a given day, act or event it must be calculated without counting that day or the day of that act or event.

1.4.2 A provision of these Rules, except any time specified for deposit of proxies with VACCHO, which has the effect of requiring anything to be done on or by a date that is not a Business Day must be interpretated as if it required it to be done on or by the next Business Day.

1.5 Cultural preamble

1.5.1 Recognising Aboriginal culture, and the Aboriginal health and wellbeing needs of Aboriginal communities, the Members have agreed to continue as Members of an association registered as a health promotion charity under the *ACNC Act*.

1.5.2 The Members and Directors must conduct themselves and the affairs of VACCHO in manners respectful of Aboriginal culture.



1.5.3 VACCHO recognises that embedding culture into service delivery is vital for better outcomes, and a protective factor.

2 PURPOSE

2.1 Objects

(1) The objects for which the Association is established are:

- a. to be the peak representative body on behalf of Members;
- b. to advocate, educate and promote the philosophy of community control, as defined by the NACCHO/VACCHO definitions;
- c. to develop establish, and strengthen collaborative relationships or partnerships for the benefit of the Members with:
 - i. other Aboriginal organisations;
 - ii. local, state and Commonwealth governments;
 - iii. specialist health providers;
 - iv. education providers; and
 - v. NACCHO.
- d. to develop policy and strategies which promote Aboriginal health rights, community control, and physical, spiritual and emotional wellbeing;
- e. to advocate on behalf of Members and assist communities in establishing sustainable Aboriginal Community Controlled Health and Wellbeing Services;
- f. to implement policy for planning and program development for Members.
- g. to work in collaboration with other Aboriginal health and non-Aboriginal health partners to systematically address social determinants of health and wellbeing;
- h. the advancement of Aboriginal culture for the purpose of sustaining or regaining of Aboriginal health and wellbeing within the Aboriginal community;
- i. to provide for consultation and co-operation between Members concerning the services they provide to the Aboriginal community.
- j. to represent the interests of Members and to make common representations on their behalf to the Commonwealth and State governments and their agencies, and to other Australian non-government organisations.
- k. to bring the needs for, and purposes and results of, Aboriginal health and wellbeing care before the Directors, the Members, the Australian community and Commonwealth and State governments.
- to provide advice, policies and procedures, support and workshops to Members regarding the maintenance and development of the workforce, the recruitment of personnel, human resources issues, finance, governance and management, data systems, health information systems, information



communication and technology, information management, occupational health and safety and accreditation.

- m. to develop and maintain educational institutions, including the Associations Registered Training Organisation, to provide constructive educational courses and programs for Members and the wider community, Aboriginal health workers and professionals to undertake medical research to redress ill-health within the Aboriginal community.
- n. to foster and undertake research into a range of Aboriginal health and wellbeing issues such as tobacco control, sexual health awareness, gambling, alcohol and drug abuse, and dissemination of services and related activities, including the economic, social and cultural implications of various aid.
- o. to provide any further activities or services to the Members in order for them to deliver holistic and culturally appropriate Aboriginal health and wellbeing Related Services to the Aboriginal community. This includes the provision of an ethics committee to provide an ethical evaluation of research projects, data collection and surveys that relate to the health and wellbeing of Aboriginal people, a consultancy service to undertake projects, research, consultancies, provide reports, surveys, advice and facilitate education instruction and workshops incorporating all aspects of the health and wellbeing of Aboriginal people; and
- p. to do all such things as are incidental or conducive in furtherance of these objects generally and to do all other things that may appear to the Association to be incidental or conducive to the attainment of these objects or any of them.

2.2 Powers

2.2.1 The Association can only exercise the powers under the *Association Incorporation Reform Act 2012* to:

- a. pursue the objects; and
- b. do all things incidental or convenient in relation to the exercise of the powers under paragraph (a).

2.2.2 The Association must act consistently with, and must maintain its registration as, a health promotion charity under the *ACNC Act*, enjoying the concessions, exemptions and deductible gift recipient status under the *ITAA 1997*.

2.3 Income

The income and property of the Association:

- a. must not be distributed directly or indirectly to its Members; and
- b. may only be applied to the carrying out of the Objects, provided that nothing in these Rules prevents the payment in good faith by the Association of reasonable and proper remuneration and expenses:
 - a. to any officer of the Association in accordance with these Rules; and
 - b. to any employee of the Association or to any Member or other person in return for property, services or goods provided to the Association in the usual course of business at market rates.



3. MEMBERSHIP

3.1.1 Ordinary Membership

- (1) An incorporated Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service delivering services in Victoria may apply to become an Ordinary Member.
- (2) The Board may, from time to time, determine criteria that an applicant for Ordinary Membership must meet to become an Ordinary Member.
- (3) An application for Ordinary Membership must:
 - (a) be made in writing and the form approved by the Board;
 - (b) contain such information required to assess the application against the criteria referred to in Rule 3.1.1 (2); and
 - (c) be lodged with the Secretary.
- (4) As soon as practicable after the receipt of an application, the Secretary must refer the application to the Board.
- (5) The Board shall determine whether to approve or reject the application.
- (6) The Board, in deciding to approve or reject the application:
 - (a) must consider the application against the criteria referred to in Rule 3.1.1 (2);
 - (b) is not obliged to accept any application; and
 - (c) may reject the application in its absolute discretion.
- (7) If the Board approves an application for Ordinary Membership, the Secretary must, as soon as practicable, notify the applicant in writing of the approval.
- (8) The Secretary must enter the applicant's name in the register of Members as an Ordinary Member within 28 business days after Board approves their application for Ordinary Membership.
- (9) An applicant for membership becomes an Ordinary Member and is entitled to exercise the rights of an Ordinary Member when its full corporate name is entered in the register of Members. The approval will be formally announced, and the new Ordinary Member welcomed at the next General Meeting or Members Forum whichever is first.
- (10) If the Board rejects an application:
 - (a) the Secretary must, as soon as practicable, notify the applicant in writing that the application has been rejected;
 - (b) the applicant:
 - i. may apply to be an Associate Member under Rule 3,2,1; or
 - ii. in accordance with these Rules, may apply to have its application put to the Association in General Meeting.
- (11) An applicant who has been rejected, may, subject to Rule 3.1.1 (12), re-apply for Ordinary Membership after a period of one year from the date of the Board's rejection of their application.



- (12) An applicant who has had their application rejected by the Board may request within 28 calendar days of notice of the Board's decision to reject the application, to have their application put to the Ordinary Members at the next General Meeting, at which Members by a majority of those Delegates entitled to vote and who are present at a General Meeting must determine whether to approve or reject the application.
 - (a) If the meeting approves an application for membership, Rules 3.1.1 ,(7), (8) & (9) will apply.
 - (b) If the meeting rejects an application:
 - i. the Secretary must, as soon as practicable, notify the applicant in writing that the application has been rejected;
 - ii. the applicant:
 - 1. may apply to be an Associate Member under Rule 3.2.1; and
 - 2. may re-apply for membership after a period of one year from the date of the General Meeting application rejection.

3.1.2 Rights, obligations and Liabilities of Ordinary Members

- (1) An Ordinary Member who is entitled to vote under Rule 3.1.2(2) has the right:
 - (a) to receive notice of General Meetings and of proposed special resolutions in the manner and time prescribed by these Rules;
 - (b) to submit items of business for consideration at a General Meeting;
 - (c) to attend and be heard at General Meetings;
 - (d) to vote at a General Meeting;
 - (e) to have access to the minutes of General Meetings and other documents of the Association as provided under Rule 14; and
 - (f) to inspect the register of Members.
- (2) An Ordinary Member is entitled to vote if its membership rights are not suspended for any reason.
- (3) A right, privilege, or obligation of an Ordinary Member:
 - (a) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person or organisation and confers no rights in or to any property, assets or income of the Association; and
 - (b) terminates upon the cessation of membership whether by dissolution, resignation or otherwise.
- (4) No entrance fee or annual subscription is payable by Ordinary Members.
- (5) An Ordinary Member may also be a Financial Member.

3.2.1 Associate Membership

(1) An incorporated Aboriginal Community Controlled Health and Wellbeing Related Service delivering services in Victoria may apply to become an Associate Member.



- (2) The Board may, from time to time, determine criteria that an applicant for Associate Membership must meet to become an Associate Member.
- (3) An application for Associate Membership must:
 - (a) be made in writing and be in a form approved by the Board; and
 - (b) contain such information required to assess the application against the criteria referred to in Rule 3.2.1(2); and
 - (c) be lodged with the Secretary.
- (4) As soon as practicable after the receipt of an application, the Secretary must refer the application to the Board.
- (5) The Board shall determine whether to approve or reject the application. The Board's decision in this matter is final.
- (6) The Board, in deciding to approve or reject the application:
 - (a) must consider the application against the criteria referred to in Rule 3.2.1(2);
 - (b) is not obliged to accept any application; and
 - (c) may reject the application in its absolute discretion.
- (7) If the Board approves an application for Associate Membership, the Secretary must:
 - (a) notify the applicant in writing of the approval as soon as practicable; and
 - (b) enter the applicant's name in the register of Members as an Associate Member within 28 calendar days after the Board approves their application for Associate Membership.
- (8) An applicant for Associate Membership becomes an Associate Member and is entitled to the rights and benefits of an Associate Member when its full corporate name is entered in the register of Members.

3.2.2 Rights, Obligations and Liabilities of Associate Member

- (1) An Associate Member has the rights and benefits determined by the Board from time to time.
- (2) Any benefit accruing to, or obligation of, an Associate Member:
 - (a) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person or organisation and confers no rights in or to any property, assets or income of the Association; and
 - (b) terminates immediately upon the cessation of membership of the Associate Member whether by dissolution or resignation or otherwise.
- (3) No entrance fee or annual subscription is payable by an Associate Member.
- (4) An Associate Member may also be a Financial Member.

3.3.1 Financial Membership

(1) An organisation that supports the aims and objectives of the Association may apply to become a Financial Member.



- (2) The Board may, from time to time, determine entrance fees and annual subscriptions, and determine the criteria, that an applicant for Financial Membership must meet to become a Financial Member.
- (3) An application for Financial Membership must:
 - (a) be made in writing and be in a form approved by the Board;
 - (b) contain such information required to assess the application against the criteria referred to in Rule 3.3.1(2); and
 - (c) be lodged with the Secretary.
- (4) As soon as practicable after the receipt of an application the Secretary must refer the application to the Board.
- (5) The Board shall determine whether to approve or reject the application. The Board's decision in this is final.
- (6) The Board, in deciding to approve or reject the application:
 - (a) must consider the application against the criteria referred to in Rule 3.3.1(2);
 - (b) is not obliged to accept any application; and
 - (c) may reject the application in its absolute discretion.
- (7) If the Board approves an application for Financial Membership, the Secretary must:
 - (a) notify the applicant in writing of the approval as soon as practicable; and
 - (b) enter the applicant's name in the register of Members as a Financial Member within 28 calendar days after the Board approves their application for Financial Membership.
- (8) An applicant for Financial Membership becomes a Financial Member and is entitled to the rights and benefits of a Financial Member when its full corporate name is entered in the register of Members as a Financial Member.

3.3.2 Rights, Obligations, Obligations and Liabilities of Financial Member

- (1) A Financial Member has the rights and benefits determined by the Board from time to time.
- (2) Any benefit accruing to, or obligation of, a Financial Member:
 - (a) is not capable of being transferred to transmitted to another person organisation and confers no rights in or to any property, assets or income of the Association; and
 - (b) terminates immediately upon the cessation of membership of the Financial Member whether by dissolution or resignation or otherwise.
- (3) Financial Membership will automatically cease on non-payment of fees.
- (4) A Financial Member may also be eligible for Ordinary or Associate Membership if they meet the relevant criteria.

3.4 Representation of Members at General Meetings

(1) Subject to Rule 3.4(2), a Member may appoint 2 individuals as Delegates who represent, and exercise the rights of, their Membership class at General Meetings.



- (2) A Member must appoint Aboriginal people as its Delegates. However, if an Aboriginal person is not available to fill the position, the Member may appoint a non-Aboriginal person with the consent of the Board.
- (3) Only Aboriginal Delegates of an Ordinary Member can vote at a General Meeting or be a Board Member.
- (4) If an Ordinary Member's Delegate is a Board Member, the Ordinary Member's other Delegate cannot vote at General Meetings.
- (5) An appointment of an individual as a Delegate must be:
 - a. in writing;
 - b. signed by the Member's chairperson; and
 - c. provided to the Secretary as soon as practicable after the appointment is made.
- (6) An appointment of a Delegate is not invalid merely because the Member fails to comply with Rule 3.4(5)(c).
- (7) A Member may revoke a Delegate's appointment by giving notice in writing to the Secretary.
- (8) A person ceases to be a Delegate if:
 - a. they die; or
 - b. another person is appointed as a Delegate in their place.

3.5 Register of Members

- (1) The Secretary must keep and maintain a register of Members containing:
 - (a) Member details include the name and address of each Member;
 - (b) the date on which each Member's name was entered in the register; and
 - (c) that Member's membership class (or classes).
- (2) A member may, after giving reasonable notice, at a reasonable time and free of charge, inspect the register of Members.
- (3) A Member may make a copy of entries in the register of Members.

Note: Under section 59 of the Act, access to the personal information of a person recorded in the register of members may be restricted in certain circumstances. Section 58 of the Act provides that it is an offence to make improper use of information about a person obtained from the Register of Members.

3.6 Ceasing Membership

- (1) A Member who has paid all moneys due and payable by a Member to the Association may resign from the Association by giving one month's notice in writing to the Secretary of its intention to resign.
- (2) Without limiting any other provisions of these Rules, a Member ceases to be a Member if:
 - (a) it is expelled in accordance with these Rules;



. ว

- (b) it is being or has been dissolved and/or wound up or ceases to function as a going concern; or
- (c) 1 month has elapsed since it gave notice of its intention to resign.
- (3) The Secretary must record the date on which a former Member ceased to be a Member in the register of Members.
- (4) Where a Member ceases to be a Member by reason of ineligibility under sub-rules 3.1.2(2), 3.2.2(2) or 3.3.2(2) they cease to hold the class of membership for which they are no longer eligible. The Member may continue to hold their membership in the class for which they remain eligible.
- (5) Where a Member ceases to be a Member by reason of sub-rule 3.6 (2)(b), that Member will cease to hold all classes of membership.
- (6) Where a Member holds more than one membership class, they may resign from one or both membership classes.

3.7 Discipline, suspension and expulsion of Members

- Subject to these Rules, if the Board is of the opinion that a Member has refused or neglected to comply with these Rules, or has been guilty of conduct unbecoming a Member or prejudicial to the interests of the Association, the Board may by resolution:
 - (a) reprimand the Member;
 - (b) suspend that Member's membership for a specified period; or
 - (c) expel that Member from the Association.
- (2) A resolution of the Board under sub-rule (1) does not take effect unless:
 - (a) at a meeting held in accordance with sub-rule 3.7 (3), the Board confirms the resolution; and
 - (b) if the Member exercises a right of appeal to the Association under this rule, the Association confirms the resolution in accordance with this rule.
- (3) A meeting of the Board to confirm or revoke a resolution passed under sub-rule (1) must be held not earlier than 14 calendar days, and not later than 28 calendar days, after notice has been given to the Member in accordance with sub-rule 3.7 (4).
- (4) For the purposes of giving notice in accordance with sub-rule 3.7 (3), the Secretary must, as soon as practicable, cause to be given to the Member a written notice:
 - (a) setting out the resolution of the Board and the grounds on which it is based:
 - (b) stating that the Delegate(s) of the Member, may address the Board at a meeting to be held not earlier than 14 calendar days and not later than 28 calendar days after the notice has been given to that Member;
 - (c) stating the date, place and time of that meeting; and
 - (d) informing the Member that it may do one or all of the following:
 - (i) send its Delegate(s) to attend that meeting; or
 - (ii) give to the Board before the date of that meeting a written statement seeking the revocation of the resolution.



- (5) The Secretary must further inform the Member that, if at that meeting, the Board confirms the resolution, the Member may not later than 48 hours after that meeting, give the Secretary a notice to the effect that the Member wishes to appeal to the Association in General Meeting against the resolution.
- (6) At a meeting of the Board to confirm or revoke a resolution passed under sub-rule 3.7(1), the Board must:
 - (a) give the Member's representative(s), an opportunity to be heard;
 - (b) give due consideration to any written statement submitted by the Member;
 - (c) ensure that the Board Members considering the resolution are not biased against, or in favour of, the Member concerned; and
 - (d) determine by resolution whether to confirm or revoke the resolution.
- (7) If at the meeting of the Board, the Board confirms the resolution, the Member may, not later than 48 hours after that meeting, give the Secretary a notice to the effect that the Member wishes to appeal to the Association in General Meeting against the resolution.
- (8) If the Secretary receives a notice under sub-rule 3.7 (6), he or she must notify the Board and the Board must convene a General Meeting to be held within 21 calendar days after the date on which the Secretary received the notice.
- (9) At a General Meeting convened under sub-rule 3.7 (7), no business other than the question of the appeal may be conducted; and
 - (a) the Board may place before the meeting details of the grounds for the resolution and the reasons for the passing of the resolution; and
 - (b) the Member's Delegates must be given an opportunity to be heard; and
 - (c) the Members present must vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the resolution should be confirmed or revoked.
- (10) A resolution is confirmed if, at the General Meeting held in accordance with sub-rule 3.7 (8), not less than two-thirds of the Members vote in person, or by proxy, in favour of the resolution. In any other case, the resolution is revoked.

3.8 Disputes and mediation

- This Rule 3.8 applies to disputes between a Member and another Member or a Member and the Association relating to these Rules.
- (2) The parties to the dispute must meet to discuss the matter in dispute, and, if possible, resolve the dispute within 14 calendar days after the dispute comes to the attention of all of the parties.
- (3) If the parties are unable to resolve the dispute, or if a party fails to attend, the meeting referred to in sub-rule 3.8 (2), then the parties must, within 10 calendar days, hold a meeting in the presence of a mediator.
- (4) The mediator must be;
 - (a) a person is chosen by agreement between the parties; or
 - (b) in the absence of agreement;

1 /

- (i) in the case of a dispute between a Member and another Member, a person appointed by the Board; or
- (ii) in the case of a dispute between a Member and the Association, a person who is a mediator appointed or employed by the Dispute Settlement Centre of Victoria (Department of Justice).
- (5) Subject to Rule 3.8(3) a Delegate can be a mediator for the purposes of this Rule 3.8.
- (6) A mediator for the purposes of this Rule 3.8 cannot:
 - (a) be a Member, or Delegate of a Member, who is a party to the dispute;
 - (b) have a personal interest in the dispute; or
 - (c) be biased in favour of or against any party.
- (7) The parties to the dispute must, in good faith, attempt to settle the dispute by mediation conducted under sub-rule 3.8 (3).
- (8) The mediator, in conducting the mediation, must:
 - (a) give the parties to the mediation process every opportunity to be heard;
 - (b) allow due consideration by all parties of any written statement submitted by any party; and
 - (c) ensure that natural justice is accorded to the parties to the dispute throughout the mediation process.
- (9) The mediator must not determine the dispute.
- (10) If the mediation process does not result in the dispute being resolved, the parties may seek to resolve the dispute in accordance with the Act or otherwise at law.

4. GENERAL MEETINGS

4.1 Annual General Meetings

- (1) The Board may determine the date, time and place of the Association's Annual General Meeting.
- (2) The Board must convene an Annual General Meeting at least once in each calendar year.
- (3) The ordinary business of the Annual General Meeting shall be:
 - (a) to confirm the minutes of the previous Annual General Meeting and of any General Meeting held since that meeting;
 - (b) to receive from the Board reports upon the transactions of the Association during the preceding Financial Year;
 - (c) to elect Members of the Board pursuant to Rule 5.2; and
 - (d) to receive and consider the statement submitted by the Association in accordance with Part 7 of the Act.



(4) The Annual General Meeting may conduct any special business of which notice has been given in accordance with these Rules and the Act. All business that is conducted at the Annual General Meeting, except for business conducted under the rules as ordinary business of the Annual General Meeting, is deemed to be special business.

4.2 Special General Meetings

- (1) In addition to the Annual General Meeting, any other General Meeting may be held in the same year.
- (2) All General Meetings other than the Annual General Meeting are Special General Meetings.
- (3) The Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a Special General Meeting of the Association.
- (4) The Board must, on the request in writing of Ordinary Members representing not less than one third of the total number of Ordinary Members, convene a Special General Meeting of the Association.
- (5) The request for a Special General Meeting under sub-rule (4) must-
 - (a) state the objects of the meeting;
 - (b) be signed by the Ordinary Members requesting the meeting; and
 - (c) be sent to the address of the Secretary.
- (6) If the Board does not cause a Special General Meeting to be held within one month after the date on which the request is sent to the address of the Secretary, the Ordinary Members making the request, or any of them, may convene a Special General Meeting to be held not later than 3 months after that date.
- (7) If Ordinary Members convene a Special General Meeting in accordance with this rule:
 - a. [each member of] the Board must attend the meeting; and
 - b. the Association must refund all reasonable expenses incurred in convening the Special General Meeting to the persons incurring the expenses.

4.3 Members Forum

- (1) The Board shall, at least once a year and where practicable in conjunction with an Annual General Meeting, convene a Members Forum.
- (2) Procedures convening, giving notice of, and conducting the Members Forum shall be determined by the Board.
- (3) The policy which the Board shall follow in seeking to attain the Objects shall be discussed and recommendations may be made to the Board from the Members Forum.
- (4) The Board shall consider reports from Members and recommendations of the Members Forum and shall incorporate the recommendations into the strategic direction of the Association as far as practicable, feasible and desirable.

4.4 Notice of General Meetings



- (1) The Secretary of the Association, at least 14 calendar days, or if a special resolution has been proposed at least 21 calendar days, before the date fixed for holding a General Meeting of the Association, must send each Member a notice stating:
 - a. the place, date and time of the General Meeting;
 - b. the nature of the business to be conducted at the General Meeting;
 - c. if the meeting is an Annual General Meeting, that the General Meeting is an Annual General Meeting; and
 - d. attaching the proxy form that is required to vote by proxy in accordance with these Rules.
- (2) A notice of General Meeting may be sent:
 - (a) by prepaid post to the address appearing in the register of Members; or
 - (b) if the Member requests, by facsimile transmission or electronic transmission.
- (3) No business other than that set out in the notice convening the meeting may be conducted at the meeting.
- (4) An Ordinary Member intending to bring any business before a meeting may notify in writing, or by electronic transmission, the Secretary of that business, who must include that business in the notice calling the next General Meeting.
- (5) The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by any Member entitled to such notice, shall not invalidate the meeting or the proceedings at the meeting.

4.5 Use of technology at General Meetings

- (1) A Member not physically present at a General Meeting may be permitted to participate in the meeting by the use of technology that allows that Member and the Members present at the meeting to clearly and simultaneously communicate with each other.
- (2) For the purposes of a General Meeting, a Member participating in a General Meeting as permitted under sub-rule 4.5 (1) is taken to be present at the meeting and, if the Member votes at the meeting, is taken to have voted in person.

4.6 Quorum at General Meetings

- (1) No item of business may be conducted at a General Meeting unless a quorum of at least half the total number of Ordinary Members who are entitled to vote are present by their Delegates (or their Delegates' proxies) to consider that item.
- (2) Only one Delegate of each Ordinary Member may be counted for the purposes of constituting a quorum.
- (3) If a quorum is not present within half an hour after the time appointed for the commencement of a General Meeting:
 - (a) in the case of a meeting convened upon the request of Members- the meeting must be dissolved; and
 - (b) in any other case, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and (unless another place is specified by the



Chairperson at the time of the adjournment or by written notice to Members given before the day to which the meeting is adjourned) at the same place.

(4) If:

- a. a meeting is adjourned under sub-rule 4.6 (3)(b);
- b. a quorum within the meaning of sub-rule 4.6 (1) is not present within half an hour after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting; and
- c. there are at least 3 Ordinary Members present by their Delegates (or their Delegates' proxies),

the Delegates present shall be taken to be a quorum.

4.7 Presiding at General Meetings

- (1) The Chairperson shall preside as Chairperson at each General Meeting of the Association.
- (2) If the Chairperson is absent from a General Meeting, or is unable to preside, the Deputy Chairperson shall preside as Chairperson.
- (3) If both the Chairperson and the Deputy Chairperson are absent from a General Meeting, or is unable to preside, Ordinary Members present must select a Board Member to preside as Chairperson.

4.8 Adjournment of meetings

- (1) The person presiding may, with the consent of a majority of Ordinary Members present at the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and place to place.
- (2) No business may be conducted at an adjourned meeting other than the unfinished business from the meeting that was adjourned.
- (3) If a meeting is adjourned for 14 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given in accordance with Rule 4.4.
- (4) Except as provided in sub-rule 4.8 (3), it is not necessary to given notice of an adjournment or of the business to be conducted at an adjourned meeting.

4.9 Voting at General Meetings

- (1) Upon any question arising at a General Meeting, an Ordinary Member has one vote only.
- (2) All votes must be given by Delegate or by proxy.
- (3) In the case of an equality of voting on a question, the Chairperson of the meeting is entitled to exercise a second or casting vote.
- (4) An Ordinary Member is not entitled to vote at a General Meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the Member to the Association have been paid.

4.10 Poll at General Meetings

 If at a meeting, a poll on any question is demanded by not less than 3 Ordinary Members, it must be taken at that meeting in such manner as the Chairperson may



direct and the resolution of the poll shall be deemed to be a resolution of the meeting on that question.

(2) A poll that is demanded on the election of a Chairperson, or on a question of an adjournment must be taken immediately and a poll that is demanded on any other question must be taken at such time before the close of the meeting as the Chairperson may direct.

4.11 Manner of determining whether resolution carried

If a question arising at a General Meeting is determined on a show of hands:

- (a) a declaration by the Chairperson that a resolution has been:
 - (i) carried; or
 - (ii) carried unanimously; or
 - (iii) carried by a particular majority; or
 - (iv) lost; and
- (b) an entry to that effect in the minute book of the Association, is evidence of the fact, without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that resolution.

4.12 Proxies

- (1) In the event that a Member's Delegates are unable to attend a General Meeting that Member is entitled to appoint another Member's Delegate as a proxy by notice given to the Secretary no later than 24 hours before the time of the meeting in respect of which the proxy is appointed.
- (2) The notice appointing the proxy must be in the form set out in Schedule 3.

5 DIRECTORS

5.1 Board

- (1) The Board shall be the governing body of the Association and:
 - (a) shall direct, control and be responsible for the management of the business and affairs of the Association;
 - (b) may, subject to these Rules, the Act and the Regulations, exercise all such powers and functions as may be exercised by the Association other than those powers and functions that are required by these Rules to be exercised by General Meetings of the Members of the Association;
 - (c) subject to these Rules, the Act and the Regulations, has power to perform all such acts and things as appear to the Board to be essential for the proper management of the business and affairs of the Association;



- (d) shall have the power to appoint and, remove or suspend the Chief Executive Officer, in accordance with the Association's policies, and to determine their powers, duties and remuneration; and
- (e) shall appoint the Chairperson, the Deputy Chairperson and the Chief Executive Officer to represent the Association on NACCHO.
- (2) The Board shall consist of a minimum of three and a maximum of seven Board Members elected by the Association in General Meeting in accordance with these Rules.
- (3) A person is not qualified to be a Board Member unless they are an Aboriginal Delegate of an Ordinary Member appointed in accordance with the Rules. Employees of the Association are not eligible to be Board Members of the Association.
- (4) The Board may, by resolution and by an instrument in writing, delegate any of its powers (pursuant to Rule 5.1(1)) to any person or persons, or any committee (consisting of such person/s that the Board considers appropriate) as are specified in the instrument, other than this power of delegation and a function that is a function imposed on the Board by the Act, any other law, or by resolution of the Association in General Meeting. This power of delegation is subject to the following rules:
 - (a) A function, the exercise of which has been delegated to any person or persons, or any committee under this rule may, while the delegation remains unrevoked, be exercised from time to time by the person or persons, or committee in accordance with the terms of the delegation.
 - (b) A delegation under this rule may be made subject to any conditions or limitations about the exercise of any function, or about time or circumstances that may be specified in the instrument of delegation.
 - (c) Despite any delegation under this section, the Board may continue to exercise any function delegated.
 - (d) Any act or thing done or suffered by a person or persons, or committee acting in the exercise of a delegation under this section has the same force and effect as it would have if it had been done or suffered by the Board.
 - (e) The Board may, in writing, revoke wholly or in part any delegation under this section.
 - (f) Any person, persons or committee appointed under this Rule shall report in writing to the Board on the exercise of the delegated functions or powers as and when and by a method and at a frequency the Board shall determine.

5.2 Election of Board Members

- (1) Subject to sub-rule 5.2 (2), nominations of candidates for election of Board Members must be:
 - (a) made in writing, signed by the Chairperson of an Ordinary Member and accompanied by the written consent of the candidate (which may be endorsed on the form of nomination); and



- (b) delivered to the Secretary not less than 7 days before the date fixed for the holding of the Annual General Meeting.
- (2) If insufficient nominations are received to fill all vacancies on the Board, the candidates nominated shall be deemed to be elected and further nominations may be received at the Annual General Meeting.
- (3) If the number of nominations received is equal to the number of vacancies to be filled, the persons nominated shall be deemed to be elected.
- (4) If the number of nominations exceeds the number of vacancies to be filled, a ballot must be held.
- (5) The ballot for the election of Board Members must be conducted at the Annual General Meeting in such manner as the Board may direct.

5.3 Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson

- (1) The Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are office bearers of the Association.
- (2) The members at the Annual General Meeting shall elect the Chairperson from among the Board Members for a term of two years. The Chairperson will be elected for a term of two years every second Annual General Meeting. The Chairperson will be exempt from rotation according to Rule 5.2 (1) until the expiration of the two-year term.
- (3) A person shall cease to be Chairperson if:
 - (a) that person ceases to be a Board Member in accordance with Rule 5.6; or
 - (b) the Board so determines.

(4) The Directors must elect a Director as the Deputy Chairperson after the Annual General Meeting or to fill a casual vacancy.

(5) The Deputy Chairperson may act and may exercise any of the powers conferred to the Chairperson in these Rules, in the absence of the Chairperson or should the Chairperson be unwilling or unable to act.

- (6) A person shall cease to be Deputy Chairperson if:
 - (a) that person ceases to be a Board Member in accordance with Rule 5.6; or
 - (b) the Board so determines.

5.4 Retirement of Board Members

- (1) At the Annual General Meeting in April 1996, three of the Board Members shall retire and at the Annual General Meeting in each subsequent year, the number of Board Members retiring shall be, in rotation, two Members then, two Members then, three Members.
- (2) A retiring Board Member retains office until his or her successor is elected.
- (3) The Board Members to retire in any one year are, subject to the provisions as to the filling of casual vacancies, those that have been longest in office since their last election. If there are 2 or more Board Members who became Board Members on the same day and both of them are not required to retire to satisfy the requirements of sub-rule 5.4 (1), those who retire must be determined by lot unless they otherwise agree among themselves.



(4) A retiring Board Member is eligible for re-election.

5.5 Casual vacancies

- (1) In the event of a vacancy occurring in the office of a Board Member, the Board may appoint a Delegate of a Ordinary Member to fill the vacancy.
- (2) The Board Member appointed in accordance with sub-rule 5.5 (1) shall hold office, subject to these Rules, until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting following the date of the appointment.

5.6 Vacancies on Board

The office of a Board Member becomes vacant if they:

- (a) die; or
- (b) cease to be a Delegate of a Member; or
- (c) become an insolvent under administration within the meaning of the *Corporations Act* 2001 (Cth); or
- (d) resign from office by notice in writing given to the Secretary; or
- (e) are removed from office under Rule 5.14; or
- (f) become a mentally incapacitated person; or
- (g) are absent without the consent of the Board from all its Board meetings held during a period of 6 months; or
- (h) become prohibited from acting as a Board Member of an association or company by reason of any order made under the law; or
- (i) receive any payment from the Association in the course of employment, other than in accordance with the Rules; or
- (j) become directly or indirectly materially interested in any contract or proposed contract with the Association, provided however that a Board Member shall not vacate his office by reason of his being a Member of any organisation, corporation, society or association which has entered or proposes to enter into a contract with the Association where he/she shall have declared the nature of his interest in the manner required under the Act; or
- (k) their nominating Member ceases to be a Ordinary Member pursuant to Rule 3.6.

5.7 Meetings of the Board

- (1) The Board shall meet a minimum of 4 times in each year on a schedule and at such place and such times as the Board may determine necessary for the proper conduct of their duties and functions.
- (2) Special meetings of the Board may be convened by the Chairperson or by a quorum of Board Members in terms of sub-rule 5.10 (1).
- (3) The Board shall hold all Board meetings as *in camera* sessions, but may invite, at their own discretion, any person or persons to attend any part of the Board meeting and those persons may be invited to speak on agenda items with the permission of the Chairperson and may provide reports, advice, counsel and information on matters as requested by Board Members.



- (4) In cases of urgency, a meeting can be held without notice being given in accordance with Rule 5.8 provided that as much notice as practicable is given to each Board Member by the quickest means practicable and any resolution made at that meeting must be passed by an absolute majority of the Board.
- (5) The only business that may be conducted at an urgent meeting under sub-rule 5.7 (4) is the urgent business for which the meeting is convened.

5.8 Notice of Board meetings

- (1) Written notice of each Board meeting must be given to each Board Member at least 2 business days before the date of the meeting.
- (2) Written notice must be given to Board Members of any special meeting specifying the general nature of the business to be conducted and no other business may be conducted at such a meeting.

5.9 Use of technology at Board meetings

- (1) A Board Member who is not physically present at a Board meeting may participate in the meeting by the use of technology that allows that Board Member and the Board Members present at the meeting to clearly and simultaneously communicate with each other.
- (2) For the purposes of a Board meeting, a Board Member participating in a Board meeting as permitted under sub-rule 5.9 (1) is taken to be present at the meeting and, if the Member votes at the meeting, is taken to have voted in person.

5.10 Quorum for Board meetings

- (1) A majority of Board Members shall constitute a quorum for the conduct of the business of a meeting of the Board.
- (2) No business may be conducted unless a quorum is present.
- (3) If within half of hour of the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present:
 - (a) in the case of a special meeting, the meeting lapses; [or]
 - (b) in any other case, the meeting must be adjourned to a date no later than 14 calendar days after the adjournment, with notice of the time, date and place to be given in accordance with the Rules.
- (4) The Board may act notwithstanding any vacancy on the Board.

5.11 Presiding at Board meetings

- (1) At meetings of the Board the Chairperson presides.
- (2) If the Chairperson is absent, or is unable to preside, the Deputy Chairperson will preside.
- (3) If both the Chairperson and the Deputy Chairperson are absent or are unable to preside, the Board Members present must choose one of the Board Members to preside.



5.12 Voting at Board meetings

- (1) Questions arising at a meeting of the Board shall be determined on a show of hands or, if a Board Member requests, by a poll taken in such manner as the person presiding at that meeting may determine.
- (2) Each Board Member present at a meeting of the Board (including the person presiding at the meeting), is entitled to one vote and, in the event of an equality of votes on any question, the person presiding may exercise a second or casting vote.
- (3) A resolution in writing consented to and signed by a majority of the Board Members for the time being entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Board in accordance Rule 5.8 (2) shall be valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board duly called, convened and held. Such resolution shall be added to the minutes to be confirmed at the next subsequent Board Meeting.
- (4) Any act or thing done or suffered, or purporting to have been done or suffered, by the Board, is valid and effectual despite any defect that may afterwards be discovered in the appointment or qualification of any Board Member.

5.13 Conflict of Interest

- (1) A Board Member who has a material personal interest in a matter being considered at a Board meeting must disclose the nature and extent of that interest to the Board.
- (2) A Board Member with a material personal interest:
 - (a) must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting; and
 - (b) must not vote on the matter.

Note: Under section 81(3) of the Act, if there are insufficient board members to form a quorum because a member who has a material personal interest is disqualified from voting on a matter, a general meeting may be called to deal with the matter.

- (3) This rule does not apply to a material personal interest:
 - (a) that exists only because the Board Member belongs to a class of persons for whose benefit the Association is established; or
 - (b) that the Board Member has in common with all, or a substantial proportion of, the Members of the Association.

5.14 Removal or leave of absence of Board Member

- (1) The Association in General Meeting may, by resolution, remove any Board Member before the expiration of the Board Member's term of office and appoint another person in his or her place to hold office until the expiration of the term of the firstmentioned Board Member.
- (2) A Board Member who is the subject of a proposed resolution referred to in sub-rule 5.14 (1) may make representations in writing to the Secretary or Chairperson of the Association (not exceeding a reasonable length) and may request that the representations be provided to the Members of the Association.
- (3) The Secretary or the Chairperson may give a copy of the representations referred to in sub-rule 5.14 (2) to each Member of the Association or, if they are not so given, the



Board Member making the representations may require that they be read out at the next General Meeting after the one referred to in sub-rule 5.14 (1).

- (4) The Board may grant a Board Member leave of absence from Board meetings for a period not exceeding 3 months.
- (5) The Board must not grant leave of absence retrospectively unless it is satisfied that it was not feasible for the Board Member to seek the leave in advance.

5.15 Aboriginal Culture

The Directors will:

- (1) conduct all Association's affairs and deliberations respectful of Aboriginal Culture
- (2) ensure the Association's actions are underpinned by:
 - i. the rules of natural justice;
 - ii. the Aboriginal ethical values of trust, integrity, and consensus; and
 - iii. the spirit of community control

provided that in doing so they do not act inconsistently with the Association Incorporation Reform Act 2012, the ITAA 1997, the ACNC Act or these Rules.

6. MINUTES

6.1 Minutes of meetings

The Secretary of the Association must keep accurate minutes of the resolutions and proceedings of each General Meeting, and each Board meeting, together with a record of the names of persons present at Board meetings.

7. ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT

7.1 Funds

- (1) All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable instruments must be signed by:
 - a. two Board Members; or
 - b. a delegate of the Board as appointed under Rule 5.1 (4) (if any) in accordance with the terms of the delegation.
- (2) The funds of the Association shall be derived from such sources as the Board determines and may include donations, fund raising activities, grants and interest, as well as Members' entrance fees and annual subscriptions.
- (3) In respect of the management of the Association's funds:
 - (a) the Association will open an account (or multiple accounts) with a financial institution from which all expenditure of the Association is made and into which all of the Association's revenue is deposited;



- (b) the Board may approve expenditure on behalf of the Association;
- (c) the Board may authorise the Chief Executive Officer to expend funds on behalf of the Association (including by electronic funds transfer) up to a specified limit, or in excess of the specified limit provided the expenditure is in the normal course of business of the Association, without requiring approval from the Board for each item on which the funds are expended;
- (d) all funds of the Association must be deposited into the relevant financial account of the Association no later than five working days after receipt; and
- (e) with the approval of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer may maintain a cash float provided that all money paid from or paid into the float is accurately recorded at the time of transaction.

7.2 Audit

(1) A registered company auditor must be appointed in accordance with the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and the ACNC Act.

(2) The remuneration of the auditor must be fixed and the auditor's duties regulated in accordance with the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012.

(3) The auditor is entitled to attend any Annual General Meeting and to be heard by the Members on any part of the business of the meeting that concerns the auditor in its capacity as auditor.

(4) The Association must give the auditor any communications relating to the Annual General Meeting that a Member is entitled to receive.

8. ALTERATION OF THE RULES

8.1 Alteration of the rules

These Rules including the statement of purposes of the Association must not be altered except in accordance with the Act.

9. SEAL

9.1 Effect

This Rule 9 has effect only if the Association has a common seal.

9.2 Execution of Documents

(1) The common seal must not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of the Board and the affixing of the common seal must be attested by the signatures either of two Members of the Board or, of one Board Member and of the Secretary.



- (2) A document or proceeding requiring authentication by the Association may be authenticated by the signature of the Secretary of the Association and need not be authenticated under the common seal of the Association.
- (3) The Association may execute a contract or other document without using a common seal provided the contract or document is signed by:
 - (a) 2 Board Members; or
 - (b) a Board Member and the Secretary.
- (4) The common seal must be kept in the custody of the Secretary.

10. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

10.1 Chief Executive Officer

- (1) The Board shall appoint a Chief Executive Officer who shall at all times be responsible to the Board.
- (2) The Board may give a Chief Executive Officer any of the powers conferred on it by these Rules, subject to the Board's discretion, for any time period, specific purposes and any other terms and restrictions. This power of delegation is subject to the following terms:
 - (a) The terms and conditions of the employment, delegated authorities, responsibilities, specific duties and restrictions of the Chief Executive Officer shall be determined, outlined, and when required, reviewed by its resolution and by instrument in writing by the Board.
 - (b) All or any of the powers conferred on the Chief Executive Officer may be given collaterally with, or to the exclusion of the powers of Board and may be revoked or varied by the Board at any time.
- (3) The Chief Executive Officer shall:
 - (a) be entitled to attend all meetings of the Association and to attend all Board meetings (pursuant to Rule 5.7 (3)), excluding *in camera* sessions unless requested to be present, and to participate in any discussions relating to any question or motion before such meetings, but shall not be entitled to vote on any Board motion;
 - (b) have access to all Board documents and minutes, excluding minutes of *in camera* sessions unless provided by the Board, and shall receive notices of all Board meetings; and
 - (c) not be a Board Member, nor count towards a quorum of the Board for the purposes of Rule 5.10, but shall be deemed an office holder of the Association under the definition of the Act as an employee of the Association who makes, or participates in making, decisions that affect the whole, or a substantial part, of the operations of the Association.



11. SECRETARY

11.1. Secretary

- (1) The Board shall appoint the Secretary and may remove the Secretary and may appoint a person as an acting secretary or assistant secretary (by an instrument in writing, in accordance with Rule 5.1 (4)) and remove a person so appointed.
- (2) If the office of the Secretary of the Association becomes vacant, the Association must, within 14 calendar days after the vacancy arises, fill the vacancy in accordance with the procedure provided in these Rules.
- (3) The Secretary must give the Registrar notice of his or her appointment within 14 calendar days after the appointment.
- (4) The Secretary shall be the Secretary for the purposes of the Act and these Rules.
- (5) The Secretary shall at all times be responsible:
 - (a) to the Board;
 - (b) for the duties provided for in these Rules;
 - (c) for establishing and maintaining a register of Members of the Association specifying the name and (postal and electronic) address of each Member of the Association; and
 - (d) keeping the Registrar informed of all notifiable information and to provide the Registrar, within the specified time, required copies of any special resolution subject to the provisions of the Act.
- (6) The Secretary shall cause to be kept the minutes and records of:
 - (a) all elections and appointments of Board Members and all appointments of office bearers; and
 - (b) the names of Board Members present at a Board meeting or a General Meeting; and
 - (c) all proceedings at Board meetings and General Meetings.
- (7) The Secretary shall ensure that minutes of proceedings at a meeting are signed by the person presiding at the meeting or by the person presiding at the next succeeding meeting at which the minutes are accepted as a true and accurate record of that meeting.

12. NOTICES

12.1 Notice to Members

- (1) Except for the requirement in Rule 4.4, any notice that is required to be given to a Member, by or on behalf of the Association, under these Rules may be given by -
 - (a) delivering the notice to the Member personally at that Member's address shown in the register of Members; or



- (b) sending it by prepaid post addressed to the Member at that Member's address shown in the register of Members; or
- (c) facsimile transmission, if the Member has requested that the notice be given to them in this manner; or
- (d) electronic transmission, if the Member has requested that the notice be given to them in this manner.

13. WINDING UP

13.1 Winding up

- (1) The winding up of the Association shall be in accordance with Part 10 of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012.
- (2) On the winding up of the Association, no Member shall not receive any surplus assets, remaining after the payment of the organisation's liabilities.
- (3) On the winding up of the Association, any surplus assets remaining after the payment of the Association's liabilities shall be transferred to:
 - (a) another organisation in Australia which is endorsed as a deductible gift recipient under Item 1.1.6 of the table in subsection 30-20(1) of the *ITAA 1997*; and
 - (b) where possible, to incorporated Members that are Aboriginal Community Controlled Medical or Health Services within the State of Victoria provided that such organisations shall have rules preventing the distribution of property to its individual Members and shall qualify under Item 1.1.6 of the table in subsection 30-20(1) of the *ITAA 1997*.
- (4) In the event of any voluntary winding up of the Association, upon the cancellation of the incorporation any surplus property, subject to any trust affecting that property or any part of it, is to be distributed in accordance with a special resolution of the Association and any such distribution:
 - (a) shall be distributed in accordance with the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and the ITAA 1997; and
 - (b) shall not be paid to or distributed amongst, individual Members or former individual Members; and
 - (c) shall be to an organisation in Australia which is endorsed as a deductible gift recipient under Item 1.1.6 of the table in subsection 30-20(1) of the *ITAA 1997*; and
 - (d) shall be distributed, where possible, to incorporated Member organisations of the VACCHO, being Aboriginal Community Controlled Medical or Health Services within the State of Victoria, but such organisations shall have rules preventing the distribution of property to its individual Members and shall fall under Item 1.1.6 of the table in subsection 30-20(1) of the *ITAA 1997*.



14. RECORDS

14.1 Custody and inspection of books and records

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in these Rules, the Secretary must keep in his or her custody or under his or her control all records, books, documents and securities of the Association.
- (2) Members may on request inspect free of charge -
 - (a) the register of Members;
 - (b) the minutes of General Meetings
 - (c) subject to sub-rule 15 (3) the financial records, books, securities and any other relevant document of the Association.
- (3) The Board may refuse to permit a Member to inspect records of the Association that relate to confidential, personal, employment, commercial or legal matters, minutes of Board meetings or where to do so may be prejudicial to the interests of the Association.
- (4) The Board must on request make copies of these rules available to Members and applicants for membership free of charge.
- (5) Subject sub-rule 15 (3), a Member may make a copy of any of the other records of the Association referred to in this rule and the Association may charge a reasonable fee for provision of a copy of such a record.
- (6) For the purposes of this rule -

relevant documents means the records and other documents, however compiled, recorded or stored, that relate to the incorporation and management of the Association and includes the following -

- (a) its membership records;
- (b) its financial statements;
- (c) its financial records;
- (d) records and documents relating to transactions, dealings, business or property of the Association.

15. INDEMNITY

- (1) To the extent permitted by law (including any law relating to the charitable status of the Association), the Association must indemnify each officer holder (as defined in section 82 of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 (Vic)) ("Indemnified Officer") against any losses or liabilities (including costs and expenses) incurred in good faith by the Indemnified Officer in the course of performing their duties.
- (2) This indemnity:



- (a) is a continuing obligation and is enforceable by each Indemnified Officer even though that person has ceased to be an office holder of the Association;
- (b) is enforceable without that person having first to incur any expense or make any payment;
- (c) operates only to the extent that the loss or liability in question is not covered by insurance.
- (3) The Association may, to the extent permitted by law:
 - (d) purchase and maintain insurance; or
 - (e) pay or agree to pay a premium for insurance,

for any Indemnified Officer against any liability incurred by the person as an office holder of the Association.

(4) Nothing in this Rule 15 affects any other right or indemnity that an Indemnified Officer may have in respect of any loss or liability referred to in the Rule 15.



SCHEDULE 1

Aboriginal health means not just the physical wellbeing of an individual but refers to the social, emotional and cultural wellbeing of the whole community in which each individual is able to achieve their full potential as a human being thereby improving the total wellbeing of their community. It is a whole of life view and includes the cyclical concept of life-death-life.

Aboriginal Health Related Services means those services covered by the Aboriginal holistic definition of health including, but not limited to, such services as health promotion and disease prevention services, substance misuse, men's and women's health, specialised services to children and the aged, services for people with disabilities, mental health services, dental care, clinical and hospital services and those services addressing, as well as seeking the amelioration of, poverty within Aboriginal communities.

This all inclusive, integrated health care refers to the quality of health services. It is a comprehensive approach to health and arises out of the practical experience within the Aboriginal community itself to provide effective and culturally appropriate health services to its communities.

Primary health care is essential, integrated care based upon practical, scientifically sound and socially acceptable procedures and technology made accessible to communities as close as possible to where they live through their full participation in the spirit of self-reliance and self-determination. The provision of this calibre of health care requires an intimate knowledge of the community and its health problems, with the community itself providing the most effective and appropriate way to address its main health problems, including promotional, preventative, curative and rehabilitative services.

Primary health care is the first level of contact of individuals, families and the community with the health care system and in Aboriginal communities this is usually through an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service or satellite Aboriginal Community Health Clinic that it services.

Primary health care, within the holistic health provision of an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service, provides a sound structure to address all aspects of health care arising from social, emotional and physical factors.

It incorporates numerous health related disciplines and services, subject to its level of operation, available resources and funding. In addition to the provision of medical care, with its clinical services treating diseases and its management of chronic illness, it includes such services as environmental health, pharmaceuticals, counselling, preventive medicine, health education and promotion, rehabilitative services, antenatal and postnatal care, maternal and child care, programs and necessary support services to address the effects of socio-somatic illness and other services provided in a holistic context mentioned in Schedule 2 and included in Aboriginal Health Related Services.



SCHEDULE 2

The following list of core services are those which are provided, subject to adequate funding, in many Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services as they address Aboriginal health:

1. Medical care

11 Clinical health services

May include, but not limited to, the following services provided by medical practitioners and/or appropriately qualified allied health professionals, trained Aboriginal health workers or qualified nursing staff using standard treatment procedures:

- Diagnostic and clinical care
- Treatment of illness/disease
- Management of chronic illness
- Referral to secondary health care (inpatient hospital and other health residential facility) and tertiary health care (specialist services and care) when not available at the Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service
- Dialysis services and endocrinology referral
- Collections for pathology testing and or referral
- Radiology services or referral
- Sterilisation of equipment meeting Australian Standards
- Respiratory disease testing, services and referral
- Cardiovascular testing, services and referral
- Outreach clinical health services to satellite clinics or communities without services
- Clinical health services to prisons and institutions
- Domiciliary health care.

12 Pharmaceutical services

- Prescription of medication and drugs
- Pharmaceutical supplies, (subject to State and Federal legislation and mindful of the W.H.O. AlmaAta Declaration advocating provision of essential drugs)
- Pharmaceutical supply arrangements with hospital pharmacies or local pharmacists when not available at the Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service.



13 Preventative care

- Population health promotional program
- Early intervention
- Otitis Media examination and testing
- Immunisation
- Health education and promotion
- Socially communicable disease control, manuals and education programs
- Health protection supplies and distribution
- Antenatal instruction and classes
- Maternal and child care (0 5 years)
- Diabetic screening, testing and counselling
- Screening, individual and mass screening programs
- Vaccinations
- Infection control
- Injury/accident prevention education
- Outreach health promotional programs
- Dietary and nutrition education.
- 14 Medical records and health information system
 - Up-to-date comprehensive medical record system
 - Monitoring sheets and follow up files
 - Health registers
 - Health information data system
 - Immunisation and vaccination registers



2. Dental health services

May include, but not restricted to, the following services provided by dental practitioners and/or appropriately qualified dental health workers or trained dental technicians using standard treatment procedures:

2.1Dental clinical services

- Diagnostic and dental care
- Treatment of tooth decay/extraction
- Provision of dentures
- Orthodontic and specialist services.
- Orthodontic and specialist services referral when not available at an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service
- Sterilisation equipment meeting Australian Standards
- Outreach dental services to satellite clinics or communities without dental services.

2.2 Preventative dental care

- Dental health promotional program
- Early intervention
- Dental health education
- Dental health supplies and distribution.

2.3 Dental records and information system

- Up-to-date comprehensive dental record system
- Monitoring sheets and follow-up files
- Dental health registers
- Health information data system.



3.Health related services and community support services

Subject to the type of service, may include, but not restricted to, the following services provided by medical practitioners, visiting physicians, appropriately qualified allied health professionals, trained Aboriginal health workers, qualified nursing staff or community personnel using culturally appropriate procedures and programs:

- Social and emotional wellbeing services
- Psychiatric services and care
- Counselling and group activities
- 'Stolen Generations' counselling and Link-up services and support
- Cultural promotion activities
- Aboriginal traditional methods of healing
- Clinic usage as venue for visiting specialists
- Aged care services
- Paediatric Services
- Client follow-up and support
- Home and community care
- Assistance with surgical aids
- Podiatry services
- ENT Services
- Ophthalmology services
- Optometry services
- Advocacy work e.g. support letters for public housing issues
- Homelessness support and temporary shelterservices
- Submission writing for community organisations
- Advocacy/interpreting services
- Community development work
- School based activities
- Transportation health services and community busactivities



- Accommodation or assistance for visiting rural and remote patients
- Meeting of patients travelling long distance by public transport
- Deceased transportation and arrangements
- Funeral assistance
- Youth activities and counselling
- Satellite primary health services to remote outlying communities or towns without services
- Support services for people in custody
- Prison advocacy services
- Welfare services and food assistance
- Affordable and wholesome food provision
- Financial assistance for medical supplies or prescriptions
- Environmental health services
- Substance misuse counselling, education and promotions
- Detoxification services
- Needle exchange services
- Services for people with disabilities
- Men's and women's business services
- Family counselling services
- Crisis intervention services
- Audiometry services
- Audiology services
- Local or Regional Health Ethics Committee representation
- Community and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service research and data analysis
- Formal in-service staff education and training
- Liaison with mainstream and private health sectors to assist in access and equity to secondary and tertiary health care services for Aboriginal people
- Community, Shire Council, Regional Area Health Service, Hospital Directors committee representation.



The above list, whilst a guide, includes certain specialist services (tertiary care) which can be available within the holistic health service provision of an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service, depending upon the level of its operation, resources, funding and geographical location, or arranged through Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service clinics for visiting specialists and physicians or, in the absence of both of the above, by referral to the mainstream and private health care sectors with coordinated care provided by Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service medical practitioners, Aboriginal health workers and/or qualified nursing staff.



SCHEDULE 3

Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation Inc.

FORM OF APPOINTMENT OF PROXY

I,
(Name of Delegate of Ordinary Member) of
(Registered office of Ordinary Member) being a representative of
(Name of Ordinary Member of Association) appoint
(name of proxy holder) of

(Address of proxy holder) being a Delegate of an Ordinary Member of the Association, as my proxy to vote for me on my behalf at the

Annual/Special* General Meeting of the Association to be held on-

.....

(Date of meeting) and at any adjournment of that meeting.

My proxy is authorised to vote in favour or/against* following resolution (insert details of resolution).

Signed

.....

Date *Delete if not applicable

